IN THE SUPREME COURT, STATE OF FLORIDA

BARRY ALLEN WILLIAMS,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 67,369 S JAN 80 1986 CLERK, SUPREME COURT By\_ Chief Deputy Clerk

## PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Robert C. Hill, Esq. Attorney for Petitioner P.O. Box 1086, 2115 Main Street Fort Myers, Florida 33902 (813) 332-2996

##

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

Barry Allen Williams, the Defendant below, shall hereinafter be referred to as "Petitioner". The State of Florida, Plaintiff below, shall be hereinafter referred to as "Respondent". References to the Record on Appeal shall be designated, (R. ).

Petitioner was charged in a three count Information with the crimes of Burglary of a Dwelling, Grand Theft and Grand Theft Auto. (R.3) On April 4, 1984 Petitioner's court appointed counsel entered a written plea of not guilty to the charges. (R.6)

On May 31st Petitioner entered a plea of guilty to the charges after the reduction of the second count to Petit Theft. (R.7) A Bench Warrant was issued for Petitioner on July 24, 1984 and execution of same was returned on October 10, 1984. (R.28) Petitioner was before the court for sentence on November 13, 1984. The court imposed a sentence of fifteen years as to Count One, sixty days concurrent as to Count Two and five years concurent as to Count Three. (R.29-32)

Petitioner's scoresheet was prepared pursuant to Rule 3.701(C) and was a Category Five scoresheet. (R.44) Pursuant to the scoresheet the Petitioner's presumptive sentence should have been "any non-state prison sanction". The reason given by the court for departing from the guideline sentence was,

"The Defendant was ROR when guilty plea taken and given a sentence date of 20 July 1984 at 2:00 p.m. He did not appear but fled to Texas and was brought back". (R.44)

At the time Petitioner entered his guilty plea it had been with the understanding that he would be sentenced according to the guidelines. (R.10-11) During the course of the plea colloquy the Petitioner was warned by the court that if he failed to appear for sentencing, the court would not be bound by the terms of the plea argument.(R.20-22)

l.

Petitioner failed to appear for the imposition of sentence. After being apprehended in Texas he was returned to Lee County where he was sentenced on November 12, 1984. Before imposing sentence the court gave the Petitioner the opportunity to explain his failure to appear. Petitioner explained that he had been unable to find employment in Lee County and had gone to Texas to seek employment to support his wife and baby. (R38)

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The sentencing court is required to impose a guideline sentence unless permitted to deviate under Rule 3.701. It is not permissable to deviate from the guideline sentence based on factors relating to the instant offense for which convictions have not been obtained.

Therefore, the sentencing court could not condition imposition of a guideline sentence upon Petitioner's complying with any requirements imposed by the court. Similarly, the sentencing court could not deviate therefrom by reason of Petitioner's failure to appear, wilfull or not, since under F.S. 843.15, this was an offense relating to the instant offense for which a conviction had not been obtained. THE COURT BELOW ERRED IN SENTENCING APPELLANT OUTIDE THE PRESUMPTIVE GUIDELINE SENTENCE WHERE THE ONLY REASON FOR DEPARTING FROM THE GUIDELINE SENTENCE WAS APPELLANT'S FAILURE TO APPEAR FOR A PRIOR SCHEDULED SENTENCING.

Τ.

The trial court sentenced Petitioner to fifteen years in state prison on Count I, sixty days on Count II and five years in state prison on Count III. The sentence on Counts II and III to run concurrent with the sentence in Count I. (R.29-32) A scoresheet compiled for Petitioner in accordance with Rule 3.701 Fla. R. Crim. P. found a presumptive sentence in Appellant's case to be "any non-state prison sanction". (R.44)

The trial court based the departure from the guideline sentence upon Petitioner's failure to appear at a previously scheduled sentencing date.

"You did not report back on the 20th of July at 2:00 p.m. for your sentencing. That released me of my promise to sentence you under the guidelines. And it also gives me good cause to sentence you outside of the guidelines because you have demonstrated by your actions that you cannot be a suitable person to be sentenced to probation." (R.39)

The trial court had conditioned application of the Rule 3.701 Sentencing Guidelines upon three things:

- 1. that Petitioner's criminal record was as represented
- 2. That Petitioner appear for his sentencing, and
- 3. that Petitioner engage in no further criminal activity while awaiting sentencing. (R.21)

The Petitioner did not appear at the scheduled sentencing on July 20, 1984. He had to be returned from Texas. (R.44) Petitioner explained his failure to appear on July 20th as follows:

"I realize what I done, that it was wrong and it didn't solve nothing, your Honor. but, I, you know, I had to make some money for my wife and my baby. I - -I ain't even held my son since I've been back or nothing. And that's the main reason why I left your Honor". (R.38)

Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.701(d)(11) states that departure from the sentencing guidelines should be avoided unless there are clear and convincing reasons to warrant aggravating the sentence. The discretion of the sentencing court in this respect is further limited by the rule that reasons for deviating from the guidelines shall not include factors relating to the instant offense for which convictions have not been obtained. The 1983 Committee Note (b) to Rule 3.701 makes it clear that these principles are binding on the sentencing court.

In analyzing the actions of the sentencing court it is obvious that it sought to avoid the mandatory applicaton of the Sentencing Guidelines by making their application conditional upon Petitioner abiding by the three conditions imposed by the ocurt. This the sentencing court is clearly forbidden to do. Additionally, the sentencing court, in imposing a sentence in excess of the guidelines on Petitioner, violated the prohibition against including factors relating to the instant offense for which convictions have not been obtained. Petitioner's failure to appear was, under the circumstances of the case, a violation of 843.15 Florida Statutes. However, Petitioner was not convicted of this offense. Not having been convicted of the offense it could not have been used as a basis to exceed the presumptive sentence under the Sentencing Guidelines. Rule 3.701(d)(11), <u>Monti v. State</u> 11 F.L.W. 61 (Fla. 5th D.C.A. 1985)

Just as the sentencing court had no authority to deviate from the guideline sentence, it had no authority to refuse to apply the guidelines or to condition their application.

921.001(4)(a) Florida Statutes (1983) requires that the Sentencing Guidelines be applied to all felonies, except capital felonies, committed on or after October 1, 1983. Petitioner's crimes were committed January 12, 1984, thereby making application of the Sentencing Guidelines mandatory in his case. There are no applicable exceptions, the Petitioner not being charged with a capital offense.

The application of the Sentencing Guidelines to a non-capital offense is a statutory mandate and not a matter of judicial discretion. The sentencing court cannot formulate conditions to its application of the guidelines, it must apply them, and it cannot do indirectly, by deviation, that which it cannot do directly by refusing to apply the guidelines. <u>Harms v. State</u> 454 So. 2d 689 (Fla. 1st D.C.A. 1984), <u>Parker</u> v. State 465 So. 2d 1361 (Fla. 1st D.C.A. 1985).

A sentencing court cannot deny application of the Sentencing Guidelines based solely on a failure to appear. <u>Harms v. State</u> 454 So. 2d 689 (Fla. 1st D.C.A. 1984) and <u>Parker v. State</u> 465 So. 2d 1361 (Fla. 1st D.C.A. 1985). Any attempt to distinguish <u>Harms</u> on the basis that the failure to appear of the Appellant in <u>Harms</u> was not willful and that Petitioner's failure to appear was, must fail. Footnote four to the court's opinion in Harms makes clear the circumstances,

" ... that defendant: is back before the Court for sentencing. <u>He did not surrender himself.</u> ...after he failed to appear ... <u>He was arrest further on one</u>, two counts of armed burglary, one count of attempted armed burglary, one count of attempted murder, one count of possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. ... he failed to appear in Court and then while he was out and under a status of a fugitive, he has been arrested again on several very serious charges".

(Emphasis added) <u>Harms</u>, supra at 690. It is hard to imagine any more willful reason for failure to appear than Harms's. Yet, in the First District a dangerous and violent multiple offender goes free while, in the Second District, a non-violent first offender receives the maximum statutory penalty. The whole purpose of Rule 3.701 is to avoid just

such stunning inequities in criminal sentences, just as it is this Court's duty to resolve conflicts in the law between the various District Court of Appeal.

Upon reflection, it is clear, that the opinions of the First and Fifth Districts, in <u>Harms</u>, <u>Parker</u> and <u>Monti</u>, reflect the spirit and intent of the drafters of the Sentencing Guidelines. The opinion of the Second District, under review sub judice, would continue to allow trial courts to deny the application of the guidelines by allowing the sentencing judge to condition the imposition of a sentence under the guidelines upon fulfillment of non-statutory criteria left to the judges unbridled discretion and in direct contravention of the statutory mandate, or to do indirectly, by deviation, that which they cannot do directly, refuse to apply the guidelines.

### CONCLUSION

This Court must harmonize the rulings of the District Court of Appeal by reversing the ruling of the Second District Court of Appeal in Petitioner's case and adopting the holdings of the First and Fifth Districts in <u>Harms</u>, <u>Parker</u> and <u>Monti</u>, that failure to appear for a scheduled sentencing is insufficent reason to impose a sentence in excess of the presumptive sentence under the guidelines and that a trial court cannot refuse to apply the sentencing guidelines by conditioning their application upon appearance by a defendant at a scheduled sentencing.

Petitioner's case should then be remanded to the sentencing court with instructions to impose the presumptive guideline sentence, in his case, any non-state prison sanction.