IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE

| BARRY ALLEN WILLIAMS, |) FEB 14 1986 |
|-----------------------|------------------------------|
| Petitioner, | CLERK, SUPREME COURT |
| v. | CASE NO By Congression Cherk |
| STATE OF FLORIDA, | } |
| Respondent. | \ |
| | } |

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

BRIEF OF THE RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. KRAUSS Assistant Attorney General Park Trammell Building 1313 Tampa Street, Suite 804 Tampa, Florida 33602 (813) 272-2670

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

BARRY ALLEN WILLIAMS, the appellant in the Florida District Court of Appeal, Second District, will be referred to as the "Petitioner" in this brief. The STATE OF FLORIDA, the appellee in the Florida District Court of Appeal, Second District, will be referred to as the "Respondent." The record on appeal which is contained in two (2) volumes will be referred to by the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate page number.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court did not err by departing from the sentencing guidelines where petitioner had expressly agreed to a conditional plea agreement and subsequently committed a breach thereof. At sentencing, the trial court, inter alia, conditioned sentencing in accordance with the guidelines upon petitioner's appearance at his scheduled sentencing hearing. Petitioner's willful and intentional failure to appear, a breach of his own plea agreement, permitted the trial court to do what he said he would do upon breach of the condition and the departure from the sentencing guidelines was warranted.

ARGUMENT

WHETHER A TRIAL COURT MAY DEPART FROM THE SENTENCING GUIDELINES WHERE A DEFENDANT FAILS TO APPEAR FOR SENTENCING AND THE TRIAL COURT EXPRESSLY CONDITIONED SENTENCING IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE GUIDELINES UPON THE DEFENDANT'S APPEARANCE AT HIS SCHEDULED SENTENCING HEARING.

In its decision below, the Florida District Court of Appeals, Second District, specifically held that:

[W]here a defendant, as a condition of the acceptance of his plea, agrees to a departure from the presumptive guidelines sentence in the event he fails to appear for sentencing, the trial court may depart from the guidelines upon finding the defendant's failure to appear was willful and intentional.

Williams v. State, 471 So.2d 201, 203 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985). The Second District's well reasoned decision was correct.

On May 31, 1984, Petitioner entered pleas of guilty to charges of burglary of a dwelling, grand theft and petit theft. Said pleas of guilty were entered as a part of a plea bargain where Petitioner was to receive the sentence derived from computation under the guidelines. The guidelines provided for any non-state prison sanction (R.44). However, the trial court conditioned Petitioner's sentence upon three (3) things, to wit; (1) Petitioner's criminal record was as represented, (2) that Petitioner reappear before the trial court on July 20, 1984, at 2:00 p.m. in order to be sentencing, and (3) that Petitioner engage in no further criminal activity (R.21). Petitioner was advised by the trial court that if one of the conditions was not met, the court would not be bound by its promise to sentence in accordance with the guidelines and that Petitioner could be sentenced to up to 20 years in prison (R.22).

Petitioner understood the conditions and tendered his pleas of guilty (R.22). Petitioner did not appear before the trial court on July 20, 1984 and he was subsequently picked up in Texas and transported by prisoner transport to Lee County (R.38). At sentencing on November 13, 1984, the trial court noted that Petitioner's failure to appear on July 20th was reason to release the trial court from the promised sentence under the guidelines. The trial court determined that he was going to depart from the guidelines because of Appellant's willful failure to appear in that it was apparent that Petitioner was not a suitable person to be sentenced to probation (R.39). The trial court departure from the guidelines was warranted based upon the foregoing factual recitation.

In his brief, Petitioner relies, as he did before the District Court, upon the decisions rendered by the First District Court of Appeal in Harms v. State, 454 So.2d 689 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984) and Parker v. State, 465 So.2d 1361 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985). In its decision below, the Second District specifically found that both Harms and Parker were materially distinguishable from the instant case. In Harms, the court was concerned with the ability of the defendant to affirmatively select application of the sentencing guidelines. In Parker, supra, the court observed in footnote 2 that in Parker and Harms the records did not suggest that the defendant's failure to appear was willful and intentional or otherwise motivated by a desire to secure the application of the Rule 3.701 sentencing guidelines.

<u>Sub judice</u>, however, the record affirmatively reflects that Petitioner willfully and intentionally failed to appear for sentencing. Thus, neither <u>Harms</u> nor <u>Parker</u> deal with the situation presented to the District Court below, that is, whether the failure to appear at a scheduled sentencing hearing is sufficient reason for departure from the guidelines where a trial court has expressly warned the Petitioner that such a result would ensue upon failure to appear.

Petitioner also asserts that "it is obvious that [the trial court] sought to avoid the mandatory application of the sentencing guidelines by making their application conditional upon Petitioner abiding by the three conditions imposed by the court. This the sentencing court is clearly forbidden to do." (Petitioner's brief at page 5) This contention is simply without merit. In no way did the trial court attempt to avoid the application of the sentencing guidelines. The ball was solely in Petitioner's court as to whether the sentencing guidelines would be applied. As the Second District observed, "If Appellant had fulfilled all of the conditions attached to his plea agreement, the trial court would have been precluded from sentencing Appellant outside of the guidelines." Williams, supra, at 203. Once Petitioner failed to comply with a condition of his plea agreement, the trial court was justified in departing from the guidelines. Geter v. State, 473 So.2d 31 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985); Johnson v. State, 458 So.2d 850 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984); Bell v. State, 453 So.2d 478 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984).

Petitioner also claims that a departure from the guidelines is not warranted where based upon factors relating to the instant offense for which convictions have not been obtained. In support thereof, Petitioner relies on Monti v. State, So. 2d (Fla. 5th DCA 1985), Case No. 85-612, Opinion filed December 26, 1985 [11 SLW 61]. In Monti, the Fifth District agreed that failure to appear, standing alone, is not a sufficient basis for departure inasmuch as such conduct amounts to criminal contempt. However, the instant case is easily distinguishable from Monti and the First District decisions in Harms, supra, and Parker, supra. below specifically found that Petitioner willfully and intentionally failed to appear for his sentencing hearing. This willful and intentional failure to appear is not merely another offense, but rather it is a clear breach of a condition of a plea to which the Petitioner had expressly agreed. The Second District below premised its decision not on the fact that there was a failure to appear, but rather that the promise to appear on a specified date was one of the conditions of a plea which Petitioner breached.

The instant case is exacerbated by the fact that Petitioner was released on his own recognizance after he tendered his conditional guilty pleas. As aforementioned, the trial court expressly conditioned imposition of sentence in accordance with the guidelines on Petitioner's appearance at the July 20th sentencing hearing. Thus, when Petitioner failed to appear from a scheduled sentencing hearing, he was in breach of the agreement reached with the trial court. The computation of the sentencing guidelines in this case indicated that Petitioner should have received "any non-state prison sanction" (R.44). At the sentencing hearing on

November 13, 1984, the trial court noted that Petitioner's failure to appear on July 20th was reason to release the trial court from the promised sentence under the guidelines. The trial court determined that he was going to depart from the guidelines because of Petitioner's failure to appear in that it was apparent that Petitioner was not a suitable person to be sentenced to probation (R.39). The trial court correctly recognized that a defendant should not be permitted to agree to certain conditions in a plea bargain and then ignore his own agreement with impunity. Also, if Petitioner agreed to appear and then did not do so, it is apparent that placing Petitioner on probation would be illogical in light of the fact that Petitioner did not follow his agreed-to condition, much less the conditions imposed by the trial court and probation officer.

Sub judice, Petitioner expressly acknowledged that the trial court could sentence Petitioner to up to twenty (20) years in prison for breach of a condition of plea (R.22). Even knowing this, Petitioner still chose to willfully and intentionally fail to appear before the trial court for sentencing. Inasmuch as Petitioner agreed to a departure from the presumptive guidelines sentence as a condition of the acceptance of his plea, the trial court correctly and justifiably departed from the guidelines.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing reasons, argument and authorities, the decision of the Florida District Court of Appeal, Second District, should be affirmed by this Honorable Court.